Wellness policy and the inappropriate use of food rewards within youth settings

by

Ninette Warner

B.A., State University of New York at New Paltz, 2011

A REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Nutrition, Dietetics and Health College of Human Ecology

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2020

Approved by:

Major Professor Richard Rosenkranz

Copyright

© Ninette Warner 2020.

Abstract

There is evidence showing that the use of food rewards can contribute to chronic emotional overeating, increased calorie intake, weight gain, poor self-regulation of food intake, disordered eating, changes in reward circuitry within the brain, and increased preference for high- fat, high- sugar foods. The bidirectional nature, or the extent to which these associated negative outcomes are a consequence of, or were present before, the use of food rewards is undetermined. Most research studies on this topic are observational in nature, with some conflicting results.

Under the Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 (HHFKA), schools participating in the National School Lunch Program are required to have wellness policies that meet minimum standards for proper nutrition. Under this act, all school meals and snacks provided to students need to adhere to the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) nutrition guidelines; this includes all foods made available to students during the school day such as classroom snacks brought by parents, food for classroom parties and events, or other foods given as incentives for good behavior or success. Research indicates that schools with active wellness teams that include a variety of members who are actively engaged in wellness policy implementation are more likely to have strongly written policies with better implementation compared to schools with fewer wellness team members and activity within schools. It is imperative that parents, adult caregivers, and educators understand the negative consequences associated with using food rewards, and are knowledgeable about and use alternative non-food-based strategies to encourage and reward children.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	V
Chapter 1 - The Negative Effects of Using Food as a Reward	1
Mechanisms of Action	2
Feeding Distortion	2
Reward Sensitivity	3
Food Rewards and Health Outcomes	5
Longitudinal Cohort Studies	5
Experimental Design Studies	5
Limitations	7
Observational Nature of Studies	7
Design of Studies	7
Interventions	8
Chapter 2 - School Wellness Policy	9
School Environment	9
Food Rewards and Academic Achievement	9
Competitive Foods	10
The Role of Educators	11
Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010	12
School Wellness Policies	14
Health Outcomes	16
Conclusions	18
References	20

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my major professor, Dr. Richard Rosenkranz, for his expertise and whose insightful advice and guidance made this work possible. I would also like to extend my sincere appreciation to my graduate committee, Dr. Sara Rosenkranz and Dr. Linda Yarrow. Lastly, I am deeply grateful to have studied under the incredible faculty of the Food, Nutrition, Dietetics and Health Department at Kansas State University.

Chapter 1 - The Negative Effects of Using Food as a Reward

It is common for adults to use food rewards, food bribes, or coercion in order to control children's' behaviors or in an attempt to motivate or incentivize them to achieve success outcomes. Rewards are typically preplanned and used to motivate children to do something in the future i.e., promising ice cream if they get good grades; giving them food to reward good behavior, i.e., incentivizing with candy for potty training; using food to reward them for eating healthful food, i.e., giving dessert if they finish their vegetables. Bribery is typically done in a spur-of-a-crisis moment to get children to comply; (i.e., giving chips to stop a tantrum in public). Coercive feeding tactics refer to trying to persuade children to do something by using force or threats. Food, especially high-fat and/or sugary foods are used because the brain is biologically wired to seek out these types of foods for physiologic and sensory pleasure (Roberts et al., 2018). There is a long list of health organizations such as the Mayo Clinic, World Health Organization, and American Academy of Pediatrics that explicitly state that food should not be used to reward, motivate, or entertain children, yet this practice is widespread in homes and in classrooms throughout the United States and across the world (Fedewa & Davis, 2015).

Research has shown that the use of food as a reward is inappropriate and is associated with changes in reward circuitry within the brain, chronic emotional overeating, poor self-regulation of food intake, and increased preference for high-fat, high-sugar foods. These physiologic and behavioral changes can contribute to overweight, obesity and using food as a sole coping mechanism, binge eating or other disordered eating (Braden et al., 2014; Eichler et al., 2019; Fedewa & Davis, 2015; Fisher & Birch, 2002; Larsen et al. 2015; K. Loth et al., 2016; Mason, 2015; Roberts et al., 2018; Remy et al., 2015). Presenting food as a reward has been shown to increase its inherent value and make it more desirable to a child (Fedewa & Davis,

2015). Also, parents who use coercion, food rewards, and arguing at family meals report that their children have food neophobia and that they are picky eaters (Russell et al., 2015).

Mechanisms of Action

Feeding Distortion

Ellyn Satter is a renowned feeding specialist, whose concept of a "division of responsibility in feeding" states that that the role of the parents is to determine the what, where, and when of feeding and children's responsibility is to determine what and how much (if anything) to eat from what is being served (Satter, 2011). Babies are born with the ability to self-regulate their intake, with hunger and satiety cues based on internal regulators, rather than external cues. Satter argues that these hunger and satiety cues can remain intact if the division of responsibility in feeding is practiced. Children's mealtime habits are erratic, at individual meals food intake is highly unpredictable which may cause adults to pressure children to eat more or less. Babies and young children respond to the energy density of foods and will compensate by eating more or less during subsequent meals depending on their needs (Powell et al., 2017).

Poor feeding practices includes restrained feeding, as well as, using food to reward, soothe or entertain, pressure to eat including praise, allowing children to dictate what is being served, and not providing regular meals and snacks. Poor feeding practices create stress and distort feeding dynamics which undermines children's natural ability to self-regulate their intake.

Offering dessert contingent upon children eating a vegetable reinforces the idea that dessert is something to be "earned" and is otherwise unattainable. Children may then feel the need to eat as much dessert as they can when they do get it because they are not sure when the next time they can "earn" it will be. Additionally, such practices send the message that vegetables and other healthy food is not exciting or desirable because they are barriers to getting

a desired food. Past experimental studies have suggested that offering food as a reward for completing nonfood tasks (homework, chores, being "good") may increase the children's preference for the reward food (Lu et al., 2015). Behavior that is rewarded with food is also praised by the adult, leading to children having positive adult attention and a sense of achievement. This reinforcement learning process leads children to associate highly rewarding food with the social pleasure resulting from being successful or performing a desired behavior (Lu et al., 2015).

According to Jean Piaget's Theory of Cognitive Development, up until about age seven, children are in a pre-operational stage of development, where children think in black and white absolutes (Contento, 1981). Offering food rewards for good behavior or success may lead to children thinking only well behaved or "good" children deserve treats, which in turn could lead to feelings of guilt while eating these discretionary foods when they have free access to these types of foods. In contrast, bribing children with food in order to calm them teaches children that acting out will lead to them getting a preferred food (Larsen et al. 2015). For children, rewarding with food and praise may lead to seeking discretionary foods for emotional validation and chronic emotional overeating.

Reward Sensitivity

There are many causes of overeating, and one contributor could be how the brain responds to rewards. Alterations in reward circuitry and inhibitory control and general reward processing could play a role in overeating and the development of obesity (Adise et al., 2019). Children with greater neurobehavioral reward sensitivity, meaning they respond more to rewards, find high- fat and high-sugar foods strongly reinforcing, respond more to food incentives, and are more likely to adhere to control rules (follow through with a behavior in order

to receive a food reward) compared to children with less neurobehavioral reward sensitivity. Neurobehavioral reward sensitivity is measured through the Behavioral Activation System (BAS) scale for young children, which was developed to determine what motivates human behavior at young ages and to assess how likely children are to carry out certain behaviors in order to reach a goal or earn a reward (Lu et al., 2015). Research also indicates that there is a positive correlation between children who have a high sensitivity to food rewards and the occurrence of emotional overeating (Roberts et al., 2018).

Lu et al. (2015) looked to examine the effects of food rewards on those with high neurobehavioral sensitivity to reward, and the different outcomes between sexes. The results of this cross-sectional study showed that in general, children, especially boys who had high BAS scores and lived in households that used frequent food rewards, consumed more calories, total fat, and carbohydrate compared to those living in households that did not use food rewards. Interestingly though, body mass index (BMI) percentile as a covariate was found to be nonsignificant, as well as children's age and family income (Lu et al., 2015).

Using food as a reward may change the physiologic reward structure of the brain which could further reinforce the association of positive emotion with food consumption (Fedewa & Davis, 2015). Another cross-sectional study used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to assess blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) response to winning food and money rewards in children ages 7–11 years old. Regions of the brain previously identified as areas of reward anticipation and receipt were studied as well as a whole brain scan that analyzed broader, more extensive coverage. Results showed that neural responses in the brain were different based on reward contingency (food or money). Children whose parents reported them as having more of an inclination to eat when emotional, and had higher attention to food, had decreased brain

responses to winning food rewards. Interestingly, these results were independent of child weight status. This suggests that reduced sensitivity to winning food relative to money might predict food patterns and behaviors that could be a risk factor for developing obesity (Adise et al., 2019).

Food Rewards and Health Outcomes

Longitudinal Cohort Studies

Longitudinal prospective cohort studies have looked at the impact of food rewards and obesity risk. One showed that food rewards were predictive of increased BMI one year later but only for children between the ages of 4–5y (Eichler et al., 2019). Another study concluded that restrictive feeding, including the use of food rewards, was not a risk factor for child weight gain and obesity because restriction did not predict increased BMI z-score (Derks et al., 2017). A limitation to this study was that researchers did not assess restrictive feeding practices until children were four years old, after parents may have been using these practices for years.

Restrictive feeding and using food as a reward at age two (before any weight concerns have arisen) could lead to an increased BMI z-score when the child is older. Another limitation to this study is that researchers did not differentiate results from restrictive feeding practices and the use of food rewards, which may have different effects.

Experimental Design Studies

One longitudinal, quasi-experimental by Farrow et al. (2015) looked to assess whether emotional eating could be induced in children ages 5–7 years. Results of this small-scale study showed that 5–7-year-old children whose parents reported a greater use of food as a reward, or restricted food for health reasons ate significantly more calories when exposed to an emotional stressor compared to a control group. The implications of this may be profound, as this was a controlled laboratory experiment where children only had access to snacks for four minutes.

Children face a wide array of stressful experiences throughout the day and if they are not learning alternative ways to cope with negative emotions, they may be more inclined to eat for emotional validation. However, because this was a controlled laboratory setting, the results also cannot be generalized to the real world, where children may have an entirely different response. While this was experimental in design, it does not demonstrate causality because there are many reasons why children may develop emotional eating habits outside of having received frequent food rewards (Farrow et al., 2015).

One within-subjects experimental design by Remy et al. (2015) looked at how maternal feeding practices impacted eating in the absence of hunger (prone to eating palatable foods even when not hungry) and caloric compensation (ability to compensate for calories eaten before a meal). The use of food as a reward was the only maternal feeding practice that was significantly associated with an increase in the ability to calorically compensate, so children ate a calorie dense snack then subsequently ate less calories at lunch a few minutes later compared to children who did not receive food rewards. Parent reported food rewards were also significantly associated with eating in the absence of hunger. These are conflicting results, as caloric compensation is a potential positive outcome and eating in the absence of hunger is a potential negative outcome from food rewards. (Remy et al, 2015). Eating in the absence of hunger reflects poor self-regulation of intake and responding to external factors rather than internal hunger cues. Within the food reward group, the children who ate in the absence of hunger were not necessarily the same children who had increased ability to calorically compensate, suggesting that there are other factors at play besides receiving frequent food rewards at home.

Limitations

Observational Nature of Studies

Many researchers write about the bidirectional nature of food rewards; it has been suggested that parents use food rewards for children who respond to these tactics and would not use them if food rewards were not motivating. It is difficult to ascertain whether future maladaptive eating habits are a direct consequence of having been rewarded with food or for other reasons (Eichler et al., 2019; K. Loth et al., 2016; Liszewska et al. 2018). The evidence that suggests using food as a reward is detrimental to the well-being of children comes mostly from cross-sectional studies, most of which rely on parental report/memory and cannot show causality because they cannot determine temporality for the use of food rewards as it relates to negative health outcomes. There are a few longitudinal and experimental studies that examine the effects of food rewards and demonstrate causality. While cross-sectional evidence may show a correlation between parent use of food rewards and negative outcomes such as obesity, it is possible that the relationship is bidirectional, meaning parents use food as a reward and other coercive feeding practices in response to their children's personalities (food rewards are found to be the only thing that motivates them), or to concerns about their weight or healthfulness of their dietary intake.

Design of Studies

Food parenting experiences in specific contexts can fluctuate day to day, and meal to meal, depending on several factors, such as physical location, parent or child mood, and competing priorities of work or other children. Studies that use questionnaires to assess how often a parent uses food as a reward on a scale of 1–5 may fail to consider context- specific cases where parents who normally do not use food rewards do so because of the momentary

circumstance (Loth et al., 2018). For instance, a parent may resort to food bribery if they are late for work, feeling very stressed, and their child is having a tantrum; but otherwise, they would never use this tactic. They may change tactics during a single meal for instance, starting with encouragement and late moving to bribery.

Most studies rely on parental self-report on their use of food rewards which can be biased based on their memory of how often they use these tactics and also wanting to be seen as a good parent. There are few studies that separate food reward use from other coercive feeding practices, which likely have different effects. Likewise, there are few studies that focus on the preschool population, when food preferences are being formed and adults are more likely to use food rewards. There is a great need to have more longitudinal and experimental studies on the use of food rewards to establish causality and to develop more evidence based practice on how to motivate children without the use of food.

Interventions

Public health efforts to stop the use of food rewards should focus on strategies that adults can use in place of incentivizing with food. Some children may be more negatively affected by food rewards depending on their age, sensitivity to reward, and personality traits. It is important to examine the context in which food rewards take place as well as the end goal adults are attempting to elicit (good behavior vs success vs eating healthful food). By first uncovering the end goal, strategies can be determined that focus on how to manage stressful situations with children and how to motivate children based on developmental stage. Interventions can be tailored to the individual needs of the child and adult and may include incorporating elements of the appropriate division of responsibility in feeding and alternative nonfood rewards that may be used to motivate children.

Chapter 2 - School Wellness Policy

Children spend a significant number of waking hours at school, and many are consuming at least two-thirds of their daily calories there. Schools play an important role in the prevention of childhood obesity and promotion of health and wellness, through serving nutritious meals that meet the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) guidelines, and through providing ample opportunities for physical activity. The Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 (HHFKA) was a reauthorization of the Child Nutrition and Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) Reauthorization Act of 2004 that focused on ending childhood hunger, improving student health and reducing childhood obesity (*Local School Wellness Policy Implementation Under the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010*, 2014). Section 204 of the HHFKA final rule required all participating schools to establish and implement school wellness policies at a local level. The use of food rewards is addressed within HHFKA wellness policy guidelines, but not prohibited as long as the food used meets USDA standards. The effectiveness of wellness policies is dependent upon the goals that are chosen and how well schools implements the strategies to achieve these goals.

School Environment

Food Rewards and Academic Achievement

External rewards can negatively impact intrinsic motivation, an internal drive to learn for the sake of learning, rather than for an outside incentive (Fedewa & Davis, 2015). When giving food as a reward, this appeals to extrinsic motivation, or the desire to complete an activity in order to receive an external benefit unrelated to the activity or outcome (Wooley et al., 2018) and students may become fixated on external rewards in order to succeed academically (Fedewa & Davis, 2015). Also, food choices that undermine childrens' health, such as high-sugar, high-

sodium "treats" typically used as food rewards, contribute to the nutritional problems that children face. It is important for educators to consider alternatives to using food as a reward. While teachers could simply choose nonfood rewards, such as stickers, temporary tattoos, or pencils — other tactics could be considered as well. Classroom management techniques that include behavior-specific praise and physical activity breaks have been shown to positively impact student health and academic achievement (Fedewa & Davis, 2015). Food may be an immediate effective reinforcer that students find very motivating, however, there are many long term negative consequences that outweigh these potential benefits.

Competitive Foods

The school nutrition environment is governed by policies at the federal, state and school district levels, and shapes the choices students make regarding their food and beverage intake, both in and out of school. Child Nutrition Programs such as the National School Lunch Program, School Breakfast Program, After School Snack Program, Summer Food Service Program, Milk Program, and the Child and Adult Care Feeding Programs are federally governed programs that regulate the food and beverages that are provided in public and non-profit schools (Schwartz et al., 2017). "Competitive foods" are "snacks and beverages sold or served outside of school meal programs as a la carte items or via vending machines, school stores, class/school events, and fundraisers" (Green et al., 2018, p. 281) and encompass the use of food as a reward in the classroom.

Previous research has shown that there is a relationship between the availability of competitive foods in schools and increased obesity rates (Green et al., 2018), however, there is some dispute over the extent to which competitive foods have contributed to obesity(Van Hook & Altman, 2012). Schwartz et al. (2017) posited that the marketing and advertising of sugar-

sweetened beverages and other competitive foods in schools contributed to the threefold increase in sugar-sweetened beverages among adolescents from the 1970s to the 1990s. Sugar-sweetened beverages are associated with excess calorie consumption and weight gain (Schwartz et al., 2017). The HHFKA restricted the sale of sugar-sweetened beverages in schools and since its implementation, consumption has been dropping about 0.18 servings per day during school hours (Micha et al. 2018). A systematic review of literature and meta-analysis examined the health outcomes resulting from HHFKA. Although fruit consumption increased, total fat, saturated fat, and sodium consumption decreased, and there were no changes in total calorie consumption nor changes in adiposity (Micha et al. 2018).

The Role of Educators

The school environment and educators' attitudes and beliefs play a significant role in helping students to develop healthy eating habits. Teachers can influence students' eating behaviors through modeling their own eating habits and beliefs, and through classroom food practices. Classroom food practices and teacher modeling can impact childrens' weight status and relationship to food. One cross-sectional study examined the effects of intensive teacher training on classroom food practices and beliefs in American Indian reservation schools (Arcan et al. 2013). American Indian children ages 2–4 years have the highest prevalence of childhood obesity in the United States, so intervention among this population is crucial (Arcan et al. 2013). Before the training, questionnaire results showed that two-thirds of the teachers did not believe that they had an influential role in the development of their school's nutrition policy, and one-third were unsure whether their school even had an existing nutrition policy. After teachers went through intensive training on healthful eating, physical activity and ideas for non-food rewards, they reported less frequent use of candy and fast food classroom rewards/incentives and less

frequent use of candy as a treat (Arcan et al. 2013). These results were based on self-report, however, and therefore may have been subject to report bias, demand characteristics, or social desirability bias.

If educators are not involved in the development of wellness policies, nor properly trained on how to implement them, even policies with well written goals will not be effective. Most of the teachers in rural areas surveyed in one cross-sectional study done by Findholt et al. (2016) agreed that a healthy school food environment is important, but fewer teachers agreed that their own behavior and the food available at school would influence students' eating behavior. In that study, a majority of teachers used candy as a reward in the classroom, and many did not model healthy eating; instead, they consumed unhealthy snacks and sugar-sweetened beverages in the classroom (Findholt et al., 2016). An overall shift in school health culture may prompt teachers to take more responsibility for their own health modeling behaviors. Involving teachers in wellness policy development may prove to be of great benefit, as people are more likely to enforce rules they have helped develop (Findholt et al., 2016). Rewarding teachers for successfully implementing nonfood based reward strategies in their classrooms, may help motivate them for continued success, adding to school health cultural change.

Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010

After the passage of landmark legislation in 2010, school nutrition guidelines were updated for the first time in 15 years. The new meal pattern changes were implemented in 2012 and included specific calorie minimums and maximums for different age groups, increased fruit, vegetable, and wholegrain requirements, reductions in sodium, and reductions in sugar (Hager & Turner, 2016). There is emerging evidence to suggest that these new nutrition standards have contributed to a reduction in obesity prevalence and an increase in student participation in the

National School Lunch Program with no increase in plate waste. In 2018, however, an updated rule was put into effect that provides greater "flexibility" so that flavored low-fat milk can once again be served, wholegrain requirements are relaxed, and schools have more time to enforce sodium restrictions (Child Nutrition Programs, 2017). In the beginning of 2020, proposed changes have further undone school nutrition guidelines by reducing the vegetable subgroup requirements and providing opportunity to offer meat/meat alternatives and grains interchangeably with no minimum whole grain requirement (Proposed Rules: Simplifying Meal Service and Monitoring Requirements in the NSLP and SBP | USDA-FNS, n.d.)

Section 204 of the HHFKA pertains to school wellness policies and the requirement to meet basic standards. All competitive foods need to meet nutrition standards for the Smart Snacks in Schools final rule established by the USDA. The Smart Snacks in School rules state that competitive foods must be either a wholegrain rich food, a fruit, a vegetable, or a protein and adhere to calorie, fat, sodium and sugar limits. Because food rewards fall under the category of competitive foods, as long as the food rewards fit the Smart Snack guidelines, they are permitted (Local School Wellness Policy Implementation Under the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010, 2014). However, given the current research findings and recommendations from health organizations, the use of any food to reward behavior or success should be discouraged (Braden et al., 2014; Eichler et al., 2019; Fedewa & Davis, 2015; Fisher & Birch, 2002; Larsen et al. 2015; K. Loth et al., 2016; Mason, 2015; Roberts et al., 2018; Remy et al., 2015; Russell et al., 2015). As explored in chapter one of this report, the use of food rewards is associated with eating in the absence of hunger, changes in reward circuitry within the brain, chronic emotional overeating, poor self-regulation of food intake, picky eating, and increased preference for high fat, high sugar foods. These behaviors can lead to increased weight gain, using food as a sole

coping mechanism, binge eating or other disordered eating (Braden et al., 2014; Eichler et al., 2019; Fedewa & Davis, 2015; Fisher & Birch, 2002; Larsen et al. 2015; K. Loth et al., 2016; Mason, 2015; Roberts et al., 2018; Remy et al., 2015; Russell et al., 2015).

Additionally, section 204 provides a structure for the content of local school wellness policies, but individual districts can tailor wellness policies according to their own needs. The rule also requires that each school has at least one designated school official to ensure wellness policies are being adhered to. Other members of the school and community are also encouraged to participate to create a wellness team. Designated leaders and/or wellness teams need to periodically measure compliance and create a public assessment to ensure accountability (Local School Wellness Policy Implementation Under the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010, 2014). The new proposed rule of 202, however, eases requirements for periodic review to "decrease the burden associated with administrative review" (Proposed Rules: Simplifying Meal Service and Monitoring Requirements in the NSLP and SBP | USDA-FNS, n.d.). Without periodic reviews that are available to the public, accountability is threatened, and wellness policies could remain unimplemented. Having a written wellness policy is useless if there is no implementation to help change health behaviors and overall health cultures within schools.

School Wellness Policies

School Wellness policies need to meet minimum standards and follow evidence-based guidelines to establish goals (*Local School Wellness Policy Implementation Under the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010*, 2014). Best practices have been developed through the CDC, Action for Healthy Kids, and the Alliance for a Healthier Generation, but research regarding their effectiveness has not fully been established. Best practices for school wellness policy include setting goals for healthy eating and physical activity. Prolifi et al. (2017) also suggest

that best practices for wellness policy teams should also include meeting at least four times during the school year. Wellness policy teams should include members from at least three of the following stakeholders: administrators, physical education teachers, cafeteria managers, or school nurses. Wellness policy teams should also include at least one parent, at least one student, and have a mechanism in place for making wellness team activities publicly available (Profili et al., 2017).

Many schools are adopting district policies that discourages or prohibit the use of food rewards in the classroom (Turner et al., 2012). One study by Turner et al. (2012) examined the association between school district policy and classroom practice to see whether food reward prohibition policies lead to fewer classroom rewards. This study found that districts that had formal written policies prohibiting food rewards also had more with compliant school practices (Turner et al., 2012). Other studies found that strong written policy did not correspond to practice (Ickovics et al., 2019; Wolfenden et al., 2017). Schools may face barriers to implementation of district policy and state laws, and more research is needed to assess these barriers to determine potential solutions.

The effectiveness of wellness policies is dependent upon the goals they choose.

Objectives should be specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time bound (SMART) in order to come up with effective goals that lead to behavior change (Lewallen et al.,2015). Also, building a wellness team/committee that includes teachers, foodservice staff, parents, students, and administrators is associated with greater wellness policy implementation and success. One study examined the associations between school wellness policy implementation and school wellness team best practices. It was found that all best practices except parent involvement and public reporting were all independently associated with SMART goals and successful wellness

policy implementation. This is not to say that parent involvement and public reporting are not important, but rather in this one study there may not have been enough variability among schools to see an association. The greater number of best practices met, the more likely wellness policies were being implemented. Also worthy of note is that about 20% of schools with wellness teams reported that none of the policies was being fully implemented (Profili et al., 2017). This implies the need for further supports for wellness teams so that policy can be implemented, or the need for reassessment to make goals more attainable. Further research is warranted to identify the barriers that stop schools from being able to fully execute their wellness policies.

Health Outcomes

One systematic review of literature sought to evaluate the effectiveness of approaches that schools use to implement health policies (Wolfendon et al., 2017). The overall quality of evidence was deemed "very low" from the 27 trials examined. Researchers determined that all of the reviewed studies were at high risk of bias as: none of them used blinding methods; there was incomplete outcome data for a majority of studies; some did not have a published protocol paper or trial registration making reporting bias possible; and some had high risk of selection bias. Each study examined used distinct interventions, which makes comparison difficult (Wolfendon et al., 2017).

In addition to examining the effectiveness of health policy implementation strategies, Wolfendon et al. (2017) also looked at student health outcomes and weight status change. The results were mixed, with seven out of nine trials reporting no improvement to student overweight and obesity compared to control groups. Dietary intake generally showed some positive impact after intervention. While some trials reported that schools were able to implement some wellness policy strategies, it was usually not enough to impact student health, especially concerning

weight status (Wolfenden et al. 2017). It's possible that weight status and other health outcomes remained the same for the duration of the studies, and health benefits would become more apparent in the longer term. However, the need for further research into how to make meaningful policy that translates into measurable outcomes is essential. Strongly written policy using SMART objectives is the first step to implementing goals, however, if the implementation of goals do not provide beneficial health outcomes, reassessment is necessary.

Research regarding school wellness policy implementation and subsequent health outcomes is lacking, but one strong cluster-randomized trial conducted from 2016–2018, examined the effects of wellness team strategies, policy implementation, and BMI z-score change. Researchers assisted schools in implementing their district's written school wellness policies and provided workshops to administrators, teachers, and parents twice annually. School Wellness Teams were created for day-to-day wellness promotion for nutrition and physical activity. For each policy, researchers provided assistance with implementation. For instance, districts had policies prohibiting the use of food and beverages as rewards, so they monitored to ensure that food rewards were not occurring and met with principals and teachers to provide alternative strategies to reward students. Students who were in schools with the nutrition intervention had less than a 1% increase in BMI z-score, compared to control schools that had a 3% – 4% increase in BMI percentile three years post-intervention (Ickovics et al. 2019). These results are very promising, suggesting that with proper support for wellness teams, policy can be implemented, yielding meaningful positive changes in health outcomes.

School Wellness Integration Targeting Child Health program (SWITCH) is an evidence-based multicomponent intervention aimed to support school wellness programs and help prevent childhood obesity. One study by Chen et al. (2018) looked at the feasibility of running this

program through one in-person meeting plus trainings delivered through in an online platform to assist school wellness teams in changing their school's health culture based on local needs. The main goal of the SWITCH implementation was to ensure that each school could custom tailor wellness practices to their needs and continue to run the program autonomously after the study ended. Three key staff members from schools participated in multiple webinars and an in-person conference and were given guidelines with best practice quality elements for recommended strategies. Ultimately schools had the flexibility to determine how program materials could be used. Strengths and challenges were evaluated when wellness leaders participated in self-assessments on their school wellness environments and student health behaviors. Overall, the evaluation supported the feasibility of SWITCH; school-level implementation was moderate to high, which is very encouraging (Chen et al., 2018).

Conclusions

Currently the wellness policy guidelines set forth by the USDA mention the use of food rewards, but leave it up to individual districts to set their own rules regarding their use, as long as the foods chosen adhere to "Smart Snacks" guidelines. Candy and other discretionary foods are not permitted according to the "Smart Snacks" guidelines, but many teachers may not associate classroom rewards with the rules surrounding competitive foods. If wellness policies do not clearly prohibit the use of food rewards, the practice is likely to remain in classrooms. It is clear that having a strong wellness team, with diverse membership can help with implementation of wellness policies and holding districts accountable for meeting goals. It is important for future research to focus on the sustainability, cost, and fidelity to wellness policies so that barriers can be addressed, and implementation can be improved across the board.

Teachers should be trained in how to model healthy behaviors and how to use cost effective alternatives to food rewards. Additionally, training with regard to utilizing classroom management techniques that include behavior- specific praise and physical activity breaks is warranted (Fedewa & Davis, 2015; Prolifi et al., 2017). The wellness teams, teachers, parents, and students can work together to ensure that celebrations, birthdays, and events are made special through nonfood activities that allow for the occasion to be celebrated in a healthy way such as with music, dance, special crafts, or with special or fun clothes. Research regarding the correlation between use of food rewards and the potential changes in reward circuitry in the brain and possible distorted relationship to food with subsequent negative health outcomes is compelling. If school districts adopt wellness policies that prohibit the use of food rewards in the classroom and give support for wellness teams and educators to follow through with implementation, student health is likely to benefit. Fostering a healthy relationship with food early in life is essential so that children are given the opportunity to maintain their natural self-regulation of food intake for proper growth.

References

- Adise, S., Geier, C. F., Roberts, N. J., White, C. N., & Keller, K. L. (2019). Food or money? Children's brains respond differently to rewards regardless of weight status. *Pediatric Obesity*, 14(2), e12469. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12469
- Arcan, C., Hannan, P. J., Himes, J. H., Fulkerson, J. A., Rock, B. H., Smyth, M., & Story, M. (2013). Intervention effects on kindergarten and 1st grade teachers' classroom food practices and food-related beliefs in American Indian reservation schools. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 113(8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2013.04.019
- Braden, A., Rhee, K., Peterson, C. B., Rydell, S. A., Zucker, N., & Boutelle, K. (2014). Associations between child emotional eating and general parenting style, feeding practices, and parent psychopathology. *Appetite*, 80, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.017
- Chen, S., Dzewaltowski, D. A., Rosenkranz, R. R., Lanningham-Foster, L., Vazou, S., Gentile, D. A., Lee, J. A., Braun, K. J., Wolff, M. M., & Welk, G. J. (2018). Feasibility study of the SWITCH implementation process for enhancing school wellness. BMC Public Health, 18(1), 1119. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6024-2
- Contento, I. (1981). Children's thinking about food and eating—A piagetian-based study. Journal of Nutrition Education, 13(1, Supplement 1), S86–S90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3182(81)80017-9
- Derks, I. P., Tiemeier, H., Sijbrands, E. J., Nicholson, J. M., Voortman, T., Verhulst, F. C., Jaddoe, V. W., & Jansen, P. W. (2017). Testing the direction of effects between child body composition and restrictive feeding practices: Results from a population-based cohort. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 106(3), 783–790. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.117.156448
- Eichler, J., Schmidt, R., Poulain, T., Hiemisch, A., Kiess, W., & Hilbert, A. (2019). Stability, Continuity, and Bi-Directional Associations of Parental Feeding Practices and Standardized Child Body Mass Index in Children from 2 to 12 Years of Age. *Nutrients*, 11(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11081751
- Farrow, C. V., Haycraft, E., & Blissett, J. M. (2015). Teaching our children when to eat: How parental feeding practices inform the development of emotional eating—a longitudinal experimental design. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 101(5), 908–913. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.103713
- Fedewa, A. L., & Davis, M. C. (2015). How Food as a Reward Is Detrimental to Children's Health, Learning, and Behavior. *Journal of School Health*, 85(9), 648–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12294
- Findholt, N., Izumi, B., Shannon, J., & Nguyen, T. (2016). Food-Related Practices and Beliefs of

- Rural US Elementary and Middle School Teachers. *Rural and Remote Health*. https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/commhealth-fac/83
- Fisher, J. O., & Birch, L. L. (2002). Eating in the absence of hunger and overweight in girls from 5 to 7 y of age. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76(1), 226–231.
- Green, S. H., Mallya, G., Brensinger, C., Tierney, A., & Glanz, K. (2018). Changes in School Competitive Food Environments after a Health Promotion Campaign. *Journal of School Health*, 88(4), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12613
- Hager, E. R., & Turner, L. (2016). Successes of the Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 170(1), e154268–e154268. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.4268
- Ickovics, J. R., Duffany, K. O., Shebl, F. M., Peters, S. M., Read, M. A., Gilstad-Hayden, K. R., & Schwartz, M. B. (2019). Implementing School-Based Policies to Prevent Obesity: Cluster Randomized Trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *56*(1), e1–e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.08.026
- Larsen, J. K., Hermans, R. C. J., Sleddens, E. F. C., Engels, R. C. M. E., Fisher, J. O., & Kremers, S. P. J. (2015). How parental dietary behavior and food parenting practices affect children's dietary behavior. Interacting sources of influence? Appetite, 89, 246–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.012
- Liszewska, N., Scholz, U., Radtke, T., Horodyska, K., & Luszczynska, A. (2018). Bi-directional associations between parental feeding practices and children's body mass in parent-child dyads. *Appetite*, *129*, 192–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.07.011
- Lewallen, T. C., Hunt, H., Potts-Datema, W., Zaza, S., & Giles, W. (2015). The Whole School, Whole Community, Whole Child Model: A New Approach for Improving Educational Attainment and Healthy Development for Students. *Journal of School Health*, 85(11), 729–739. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12310
- Local School Wellness Policy Implementation Under the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010. (2014, February 26). Federal Register.

 https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2014/02/26/2014-04100/local-school-wellness-policy-implementation-under-the-healthy-hunger-free-kids-act-of-2010
- Loth, K. A., Uy, M., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Fisher, J. O., & Berge, J. M. (2018). A qualitative exploration into momentary impacts on food parenting practices among parents of preschool aged children. *Appetite*, 130, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.07.027
- Loth, K., Friend, S., Horning, M., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Fulkerson, J. (2016). Directive and non-directive food-related parenting practices: Associations between an expanded conceptualization of food-related parenting practices and child dietary intake and weight outcomes. *Appetite*, 107, 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.07.036

- Lu, J., Xiong, S., Arora, N., & Dubé, L. (2015). Using food as reinforcer to shape children's non-food behavior: The adverse nutritional effect doubly moderated by reward sensitivity and gender. *Eating Behaviors*, 19, 94–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2015.07.003
- Mason, T. B. (2015). Parental instrumental feeding, negative affect, and binge eating among overweight individuals. *Eating Behaviors*, *17*, 107–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2015.01.013
- Micha, R., Karageorgou, D., Bakogianni, I., Trichia, E., Whitsel, L. P., Story, M., Peñalvo, J. L., & Mozaffarian, D. (2018). Effectiveness of school food environment policies on children's dietary behaviors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS ONE, 13(3), e0194555. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194555
- Powell, E. M., Frankel, L. A., Umemura, T., & Hazen, N. (2017). The relationship between adult attachment orientation and child self-regulation in eating: The mediating role of persuasive-controlling feeding practices. Eating Behaviors, 26, 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2017.02.006
- Profili, E., Rubio, D. S., Lane, H. G., Jaspers, L. H., Lopes, M. S., Black, M. M., & Hager, E. R. (2017). School wellness team best practices to promote wellness policy implementation. *Preventive Medicine*, 101, 34–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.05.016
- Proposed Rules: Simplifying Meal Service and Monitoring Requirements in the NSLP and SBP | USDA-FNS. (n.d.). Retrieved March 28, 2020, from https://www-fns-usda-gov.er.lib.k-state.edu/nslp/fr-012120
- Remy, E., Issanchou, S., Chabanet, C., Boggio, V., & Nicklaus, S. (2015). Impact of adiposity, age, sex and maternal feeding practices on eating in the absence of hunger and caloric compensation in preschool children. *International Journal of Obesity*, *39*(6), 925–930. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.30
- Roberts, L., Marx, J. M., & Musher-Eizenman, D. R. (2018). Using food as a reward: An examination of parental reward practices. *Appetite*, *120*, 318–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.09.024
- Satter, E. (2011). Your Child's Weight: Helping without Harming. Birth through Adolescence. Kelcy Press.
- Schwartz, M. B., Just, D. R., Chriqui, J. F., & Ammerman, A. S. (2017). Appetite self-regulation: Environmental and policy influences on eating behaviors. *Obesity*, 25(S1), S26–S38. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21770
- Turner, L., Chriqui, J. F., & Chaloupka, F. J. (2012). Food as a Reward in the Classroom: School District Policies Are Associated with Practices in US Public Elementary Schools. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 112(9), 1436–1442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2012.03.025

- Van Hook, J., & Altman, C. E. (2012). Competitive Food Sales in Schools and Childhood Obesity: A Longitudinal Study. Sociology of Education, 85(1), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040711417011
- Wolfenden, L., Nathan, N. K., Sutherland, R., Yoong, S. L., Hodder, R. K., Wyse, R. J., Delaney, T., Grady, A., Fielding, A., Tzelepis, F., Clinton-McHarg, T., Parmenter, B., Butler, P., Wiggers, J., Bauman, A., Milat, A., Booth, D., & Williams, C. M. (2017). Strategies for enhancing the implementation of school-based policies or practices targeting risk factors for chronic disease. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2017(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011677.pub2
- Woolley, K., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, & Fishbach, A. (2018). It's about time: Earlier rewards increase intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 114(6), 877–890. http://dx.doi.org.er.lib.k-state.edu/10.1037/pspa0000116